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14. How are Disagreements Resolved?  
 

very reasonable effort should be made by school officials 
and parents or guardians to reach a consensus regarding 
the accommodations to be provided students with diabetes. 

If a consensus cannot be reached, a number of methods are 
available to resolve disagreements. The available options may 
differ depending on which law gives rise to the right being 
asserted; this part discusses the options available under each of 
the federal laws protecting students with diabetes. 

 
14.1 How are anti-discrimination laws enforced? 

A number of options are available to parents or guardians who believe a student may 
have been subjected to discrimination. Some of the options that may be available and should 
be considered include: 
 

• Mediation (an informal process where the parties, often with the help of a neutral 
third party, attempt to negotiate a solution). 

• Internal school or district grievance procedures (see Question 14.4). 
• Impartial hearings (sometimes called due process hearings) (see Question 14.8). 
• Complaints to federal or state enforcement agencies (Questions 14.10-14.13). 

• Lawsuits in federal or state court (Question 14.14). 
 
14.2 Do the procedures differ under Section 504, the Americans 

with Disabilities Act, and the Individuals with Disabilities Edu-
cation Act? 

Yes. These laws require different procedural steps to be followed, so it is important to be 
aware of which laws apply to a child’s individual situation. The procedures under each law 
are described in detail below. In general, IDEA provides for more elaborate administrative 
procedures for resolving disputes, and these procedures must be followed where a child is 
covered by that law. Section 504 and the ADA require less elaborate administrative 
procedures but permit lawsuits to be filed regardless of whether available administrative 
procedures have been used.  
 
14.3  Which school officials are responsible for receiving complaints 

and resolving disputes? 

Most schools are required to designate an employee to oversee compliance with 
disability discrimination laws. Complaints or disagreements should be directed to this 
individual in the first instance. The name and contact information for this individual will 
usually be provided in student handbooks or publications. If not known, the chief officer of 
the school or the school district (generally the principal or superintendent) should be 
contacted. 

E 
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Notes 
Section 504 regulations require that districts employing 15 or more persons designate at 

least one person to coordinate their efforts to comply with Section 504. 34 C.F.R. § 104.7(a). 
The ADA also requires any public entity that employs 50 or more persons to designate at 
least one employee to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its responsibilities 
under the act, including any investigation of any complaint communicated to it alleging its 
noncompliance with the act or alleging any actions that would be prohibited. 28 C.F.R. § 
35.107(a).  

 
14.4 Are school grievance procedures available? 

Almost all schools have informal grievance procedures available to consider concerns 
regarding the accommodations provided students with diabetes. These procedures do not 
preclude filing a complaint with federal or state agencies. School district grievance 
procedures are different from the impartial hearings which must be provided to resolve 
disputes under Section 504 and IDEA, which are discussed in Question 14.8. Decisions on 
grievances filed using these procedures are often made by school district personnel, such as 
the superintendent or the board of education.  
 

Notes 
Section 504 regulations require that recipients of federal funding (including school 

districts) employing 15 or more persons adopt grievance procedures that incorporate 
appropriate due process standards and that provide for the prompt and equitable resolution 
of complaints alleging action prohibited by that statute. 34 C.F.R. § 104.7(b). The ADA also 
requires any public entity that employs 50 or more persons to adopt and publish grievance 
procedures. 28 C.F.R. § 35.107(b). Following grievance procedures is not required before 
requesting a hearing or pursuing other remedies. Sycamore (OH) Community City Sch. Dist., 
Complaint No. 15-01-1188, 36 IDELR 245 (OCR 2002) (resolution required school to omit 
any language in notices that suggested that parents must first follow an internal grievance or 
complaint procedure or any other procedures established by the district before requesting a 
due process hearing).  

OCR states in its case resolution manual that it may decline to process a complaint being 
addressed through a school’s formal grievance procedure if OCR anticipates that the school 
will provide a resolution process comparable to OCR’s. The affected individual has another 
60 days after the grievance process is completed to file or refile a complaint with OCR. OCR 
will review the results of the grievance procedure and determine whether comparable 
process and legal standards were in fact applied. See U.S. Dept. of Educ., Office for Civil 
Rights, OCR Case Processing Manual, Section 110(a), available at: http://www2.ed.gov/about/
offices/list/ocr/docs/ocrcpm.html.  

 
14.5 What are the procedures for resolving complaints under 

Section 504? 

A student’s rights under Section 504 may be enforced through administrative complaints 
to the Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights, through an impartial hearing at the 
district or state level, or through a private lawsuit in federal or state court.  

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/ocrcpm.html
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/ocrcpm.html
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OCR accepts and investigates complaints of violations of Section 504 by schools which 
receive federal funding OCR will only investigate complaints which are filed within 180 days 
of the discriminatory actions, unless certain conditions permit granting a waiver of this 
requirement. For more information on OCR complaints and procedures see Questions 
14.10-14.13. Complaints alleging both a violation of the ADA and 504 may also be filed with 
the U.S. Department of Justice, which has discretion to investigate such complaints or to 
refer them to OCR. See Question 14.6.  

Schools that receive federal funding must have in place a procedure for impartial 
hearings (sometimes called “due process” hearings) to address violations of Section 504, and 
complaints may also be addressed through this hearing process. As noted below, IDEA also 
requires due process hearings, and sometimes states or districts use the same process for 
IDEA due process hearings as for 504 impartial hearings. For more information on hearing 
procedures see Question 14.9. 

Litigation also may be filed in federal or state court, whether or not other possible 
processes have been utilized. However, if the lawsuit seeks relief available through IDEA, 
the IDEA due process procedures must be used before suit can be filed (see Question 
14.14). 
 
14.6 What are the procedures for resolving complaints under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act? 

Like Section 504, the ADA provides for administrative complaints and for the filing of 
lawsuits. The procedures used to address violations of the ADA are similar to those available 
under Section 504, although the Department of Justice, rather than OCR, has authority to 
investigate ADA violations.  
 

Notes 
For public schools, the procedures for resolving administrative complaints under the 

ADA are the same as those under Section 504. 42 U.S.C. § 12133. While the Department of 
Justice has general jurisdiction over ADA complaints, it has designated the Department of 
Education to be responsible for investigating complaints of ADA violations against public 
schools. 28 C.F.R. § 35.190(b)(2). However, DOJ can also retain and investigate complaints 
filed with it, even those that also allege violations of Section 504. 28 C.F.R. § 35.190(e). 
Thus, complaints filed with DOJ may ultimately be investigated either by DOJ or OCR.  

Where a private school does not receive federal funding but is subject to the ADA, 
complaints of ADA violations may be made to the Department of Justice, which will 
investigate these complaints using a procedure similar to that used by OCR. 
 

14.7 What are the procedures for resolving complaints under the 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act? 

The primary means for enforcing rights provided by IDEA are administrative due 
process hearings and lawsuits in federal or state court. OCR does not have jurisdiction to 
investigate violations of IDEA rights. States must establish an impartial due process hearing 
system. A request for a hearing may be made if there is a disagreement about whether a child 
qualifies under IDEA, the content of the IEP, or the child’s placement. Requests should be 
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made to the director of special education for the district or school; while many districts have 
a specific form for requesting a hearing, an informal request for a hearing is sufficient. Most 
states have helpful handbooks to guide advocates and parents or guardians in the process. 

In some states, the initial due process hearing is administered by a first tier hearing office 
and a second tier (appellate) review is available. In other states, only one level of due process 
hearings is available. Regardless, the process is to be impartial. At the hearing, parents or 
guardians have the right to be represented by an attorney or by an advocate who is not an 
attorney but who is knowledgeable about special education issues. While hearing procedures 
vary and are governed by state laws or policies, the hearing officer must allow for the 
introduction of evidence by the parties and must issue a written decision. 

After a due process hearing (and any available appeal or review), a parent or guardian 
who remains dissatisfied may file a lawsuit in federal or state court. Due process hearing 
procedures must be complied with before a lawsuit can be filed (see Question 14.14). 

States are required to provide and encourage mediation as an alternative to formal 
hearings. Further, before hearings occur resolution sessions must take place as a means to 
encourage agreement among the parties.  

The procedures discussed in the remainder of this Part focus on Section 504 or the 
ADA. Advocates must keep in mind, however, that IDEA procedures must be followed if 
the child is covered by IDEA. 

 
14.8 Is an impartial hearing available at the state level? 

Yes. Schools are required to have an impartial hearing procedure available under Section 
504. The hearing process may be administered by the district or by the state, but in either 
case the individual presiding at the hearing and making the final decision must be impartial 
and cannot be employed by or have a significant business relationship with the school 
district or the state education agency.  
 

Notes 
Section 504 requires that an impartial hearing and review procedure be available to those 

who are dissatisfied with the school’s decisions. 34 C.F.R. § 104.36. The same standards 
apply under the Americans with Disabilities Act. To assure the procedural safeguards, a 
school must issue a written decision. Irvine (CA) Unified Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 09-94-
1251, 23 IDELR 1144 (OCR 1995).  

As with school grievance procedures, OCR may defer consideration of a complaint 
where a state due process hearing is pending. If a student or parent/guardian is dissatisfied, 
an OCR complaint may be filed within 60 days of completion of the separate action (see 
Question 14.4). 

Schools must inform parents or guardians about their hearing rights. Failure to inform a 
parent or guardian of the right to request an impartial hearing can violate Section 504 and 
the Americans with Disabilities Act. Yuba City (CA) Unified Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 09-94-
1170, 22 IDELR 1148 (OCR 1995) (finding violation of requirement).  

Impartial due process hearings must also be provided under IDEA, as described in the 
last question. IDEA imposes more specific requirements on the hearing process than does 
Section 504. For example, the hearing officer must render a decision within 45 days after the 
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hearing is requested. 34 C.F.R. § 300.515(a). However, in practice the hearing procedures are 
often very similar, and in some states the 504 hearing procedures are coordinated with or are 
identical to the IDEA due process hearing procedures. 
 

14.9 Which federal agencies investigate disability law complaints 
involving schools? 

Investigations of complaints under Section 504 and the Americans with Disabilities Act 
involving public schools are conducted by the U.S. Department of Education Office for 
Civil Rights (OCR). Complaints relating to private schools are within the jurisdiction of the 
U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ). 
 

Notes 
Complaints under Section 504 are investigated by OCR. OCR complaints may be filed at 

any time, and a parent need not pursue an internal grievance before filing a complaint. 
Kettering (OH) City Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 15-07-1207, 109 LRP 32473 (OCR 2009) 
(district policies incorrectly stated that an OCR complaint was the final stage in its grievance 
process). Under a Memorandum of Understanding between OCR and the Department of 
Education’s Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, OCR additionally 
investigates complaints alleging treatment that violates both Section 504 and IDEA. OCR 
also may investigate complaints filed with the U.S. Department of Justice alleging violations 
of Section 504,although DOJ also has authority to retain such complaints and conduct its 
own investigation (see Question 14.6). 

OCR and DOJ therefore have concurrent jurisdiction over any school subject to Section 
504 (public schools and private schools, including religious schools, that receive federal 
funding). DOJ has jurisdiction of complaints under Title III of the ADA applicable to public 
accommodations, including private schools (whether or not they receive federal funding). 
Canterbury (IN) School, Complaint No. 05-03-1235, 104 LRP 1380 (OCR 2003). DOJ does not 
have jurisdiction over private religious schools, which, as discussed in Question 4.10, are 
exempt from Title III.  

Some states also have procedures for filing complaints alleging violations of state anti-
discrimination laws by students with disabilities. Advocates may want to be aware of these 
procedures. 

 
14.10 How is a federal complaint filed? 

An OCR complaint may be filed by mail, by fax, online, or in person at an OCR office. 
The complaint must be in writing and should state what the person is complaining about, 
who has been discriminated against, when the discrimination occurred, and be signed, dated, 
and provide contact information. OCR has an online complaint form that can be used. 
According to OCR, oral allegations, anonymous correspondence, courtesy copies of 
correspondence or complaints filed with other agencies, and inquiries that seek advice or 
information but do not seek action or intervention from OCR are not considered complaints 
and will not trigger an investigation. 
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Notes 
Information on filing complaints with OCR is available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/

offices/list/ocr/complaintprocess.html. OCR’s online complaint form is available at http://
www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintintro.html. The Department of Justice’s web 
site on filing disability complaints is at: http://www.usdoj.gov/crt/ada/t3compfm.htm. 

 
14.11 When can an OCR complaint be filed? 

The usual time limit for filing complaints with OCR is 180 days after the discriminatory 
action. This same time limit applies where the complaint is filed with the U.S. Department of 
Justice and referred to OCR for consideration. Waivers of the 180 day filing requirement 
may be granted under limited circumstances, such as where the complainant is ill or 
incapacitated or where the complaint was being addressed through a grievance procedure or 
a complaint with another state or federal agency. 
 

Notes 
OCR will take action only with respect to those complaint allegations that have been 

filed within 180 calendar days of the date of the last act of alleged discrimination unless a 
waiver is granted. The filing date of a complaint is the date the complaint was submitted (the 
postmark or the date of the e-mail, fax, or electronic submission), or the date the complaint 
is received by the government agency, whichever is earlier. A complaint may address earlier 
matters where continuing discriminatory policies or practices are alleged. See OCR Case 
Processing Manual, Section 106 (see Question 14.4). 

If a complaint is not filed in a timely manner, a waiver may be requested. A waiver of the 
180-day filing requirement may be granted in specific circumstances such as incapacitating 
illness, lack of awareness that the act was discriminatory, and the pendency of complaints 
with other agencies or internal grievances. Specific waiver requirements can be found in 
OCR’s Case Processing Manual, Section 107 (see Question 14.4).  

 
14.12 What should be included in an OCR complaint? 

In order for OCR to investigate a complaint, the complainant must provide OCR with 
sufficient information to support the factual basis for the complainant’s belief that 
discrimination has occurred. If the person discriminated against is age 18 or older, that 
person must sign the complaint; if the person is a minor, the signature of a parent or 
guardian is required. What information should be contained in a particular complaint will 
vary based on the type of discrimination alleged, but the complaint should be clear as to 
what happened and what resolution is sought. Here are some key elements to consider 
including in any complaint: 

 

• Who is filing the complaint? 
Provide the complainant’s name, contact information (address, day and evening 
telephone numbers, fax number, and email address, if available), and relationship to 
the child. 

• Who is the complainant’s attorney or advocate? 

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintprocess.html
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintprocess.html
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintintro.html
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintintro.html
http://www.usdoj.gov/crt/ada/t3compfm.htm
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Provide the attorney or other advocate’s name, contact information, and relationship 
to the complainant or child, if any.  

• Who was discriminated against?  
If the person discriminated against is not the complainant, provide that person’s 
name, contact information and relationship to the complainant.  

• Who engaged in the discrimination?  
Provide the name of the person or institution (e.g., the school and school district), the 
name of the specific school or program attended by the child, and school or program 
contact information. 

● What is the basis of the claim that the child’s rights were violated? 
State the type of violation that occurred (for example, discrimination on the basis of 
diabetes or retaliation for filing a complaint).  

● What are the facts supporting the claim of discrimination? 
Provide for each discriminatory action separately: the date(s) the action occurred; 
name(s) of individual(s) who took that action; what happened; witnesses (if any); and 
why the complainant believes the actions were discriminatory or retaliatory. If the 
allegations concern a failure to provide diabetes care to a student, include medical 
information showing that the care requested is appropriate and necessary for the 
child to safely attend school. This can include statements by the child’s treating 
physician and position statements of the American Diabetes Association and other 
organizations. Also, state any basis for believing that the refusal to provide care or 
other discriminatory action was the result of a district policy. This will help to ensure 
that OCR will investigate the complaint rather than dismissing it as a dispute over 
individual educational placement (see Question 14.13). 

● What written information or documentation is available? 
Provide a description of the information or documentation. OCR will separately 
request this information, but if the complaint is mailed to OCR this material may be 
attached.  

● When did the last act of discrimination occur? 
Provide dates of discriminatory actions. If the discrimination is continuing (for 
example, if the school continues to refuse to provide appropriate diabetes care), 
make that clear. If the most recent action occurred more than 180 days ago, explain 
why the complaint was not filed sooner (see Question 14.11). 

• What other efforts have been made to try to resolve the complaint through the 
institution’s grievance process, due process hearing, with another agency, or 
otherwise? 
Provide information on any grievance procedure, due process hearing, or other 
efforts made to resolve the issues, including the name of the agency with which these 
efforts were pursued, when they were pursued, what position was taken by the 
agency, the current status of the grievance or complaint, and information on any 
procedural or legal deficiencies in the process. Be quite clear if the process was not 
comparable to OCR’s or failed to follow proper legal standards. This is because 
OCR may decline to investigate a complaint if the same complaint allegations have 
been filed with another federal, state, or local agency, or through an internal 
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grievance procedure or due process proceeding. If other procedures are used, OCR 
will only review the results of the other entity’s action to determine whether it 
provided a comparable process and met appropriate legal standards (i.e., all 
allegations were investigated, appropriate legal standards were applied, and any 
remedies secured met OCR’s standards).  

● What specific remedy is being sought? 
Provide for each action of discrimination the remedy being sought. Be as specific as 
possible and provide a statement of why the remedy sought is necessary, appropriate, 
and reasonable. The OCR agreements available on the Association’s website can be 
used as examples of remedies that OCR has approved in the past.  
 

See Question 14.10 for links to additional resources for filing OCR and DOJ complaints, 
including a link to an OCR online complaint form. 

 
14.13 What will happen after an OCR complaint is filed? 

After a complaint is filed, OCR will investigate the complaint by gathering information 
from the complaining party and the school district. If this investigation indicates that a 
violation may have occurred, OCR will attempt to work with the school district to achieve a 
voluntary resolution of the matter, generally by negotiating a resolution agreement. If an 
agreement cannot be reached, OCR may initiate proceedings to cut off federal funding or 
may refer the matter for litigation, although neither outcome is common. Also, there are a 
number of reasons why OCR may decide not to continue an investigation, including lack of 
cooperation by the complaining party and a determination that the matter is more 
appropriately addressed through some other forum. 
 

Notes 
According to OCR, once the agency receives a complaint it will generally begin its 

investigation by contacting the school district within 15 days, and will make a determination 
as to whether a violation may have occurred within 105 days. When a violation is found, it is 
OCR’s policy to seek, to the fullest extent practicable, the cooperation of the district in 
resolving the violation. For this reason violations generally are addressed through resolution 
agreements between OCR and the district, which can include general provisions about 
district policies or procedures as well as specific relief to address the situation of the child on 
whose behalf the complaint was filed. OCR only rarely seeks to terminate a district’s 
funding, although this is the ultimate penalty available for violations of Section 504. 

OCR may decline to investigate a complaint for a number of reasons. For example, 
OCR may decline to investigate a complaint if the allegations in the complaint have been the 
subject of a recent OCR decision or court case, if a complaint has been filed or an 
investigation made by another state or federal agency, or if the complaining party fails to 
cooperate or fails to provide enough information to allow the complaint to be investigated. 
OCR Case Processing Manual, Section 110 (see Question 14.4). 

OCR sometimes declines to review cases that it believes concern individualized 
educational placement decisions. According to OCR: 

 

It is not the intention of the Department, except in extraordinary 
circumstances, to review the result of individual placement and other 
educational decisions, so long as the school district complies with the 
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"process" requirements of [the Section 504 regulations] (concerning 
identification and location, evaluation, and due process procedures). However, 
the Department will place a high priority on investigating cases which may 
involve exclusion of a child from the education system or a pattern or practice 
of discriminatory placements or education.  

 
34 C.F.R. Part 104 App. Accordingly, OCR sometimes declines to evaluate the content of a 
Section 504 plan under the expectation that any disagreements should be resolved through a 
state or district due process hearing. See Glendale (CA) Unified Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 09-
00-1434, 35 IDELR 131 (OCR 2000); Denver (CO) Pub. Schs., Complaint No. 08-01-1057, 36 
IDELR 243 (OCR 2001).  

In some cases OCR has used the regulatory language above to decline to investigate 
complaints alleging that a school had failed to provide adequate care and services to a 
student with diabetes. Advocates should therefore be prepared to address this issue should it 
arise during the OCR investigation process. Disputes about health care accommodations for 
a child with diabetes are very different from the disagreements over the proper academic and 
educational services to be provided to a child this policy was developed to address, and there 
are strong arguments that OCR should evaluate these cases on their merits:  

 

• The regulations state that the policy should apply to “individual placement or other 
educational decisions.” While decisions about which related aids and services should 
be provided might fall under the policy in situations where those aids and services 
are directly part of the educational process, much of school diabetes care is about 
safety and medical management. The justification for the policy (that members of 
the local IEP/504 team may have more expertise in deciding what educational 
services are appropriate than OCR) does not apply where the decisions are primarily 
related to health and safety rather than educational. Diabetes care decisions are 
therefore not “educational” (even if negotiated during the 504 or IEP processes) 
and therefore should not be subject to the policy.  

• Situations where a student’s safety would be compromised by insufficient or 
inappropriate medical care should constitute “extraordinary circumstances” where 
the regulatory language says OCR will investigate complaints.  

• The policy also applies only to “individualized’ educational decisions. In many cases, 
a district’s refusal to provide appropriate care for a student with diabetes will be 
based on district policy (formal or informal). In these cases, OCR should examine 
the legality of the policy. The regulations explicitly state that OCR will investigate a 
policy or pattern of discriminatory placements. Advocates should take care to frame 
the issue as one of district policy when the facts support such an interpretation. 

• The policy logically should only apply to complaints challenging the district’s failure 
to provide free, appropriate public education, rather than discrimination complaints 
alleging that the district has treated children with diabetes differently from children 
without disabilities. Claims that districts are denying adequate health care to students 
with diabetes and putting the students’ safety at risk are claims that the students are 
being excluded from participation in the school’s programs and activities. Therefore, 
they should be evaluated consistent with OCR’s duty to prevent discriminatory 
treatment against people with disabilities. 

 

When OCR determines that the evidence supports a finding of a violation, OCR will 
seek to negotiate a voluntary agreement. The agreement will include the specific acts or steps 
that the school will take to resolve compliance issues, provide the dates for implementing 
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each act or step, and specify dates for submission of reports and documentation verifying 
implementation. OCR Case Processing Manual, Section 304 (see Question 14.4). 

OCR provides an appeal process. Appeals generally must be submitted within 60 days of 
the date of the decision. OCR Case Processing Manual, Section 306 (see Question 14.4). 

For additional information regarding OCR’s procedures the OCR Case Processing Manual 
should be reviewed.  

 
14.14 When should litigation be considered? 

Litigation is usually viewed as a last resort for discrimination complaints involving 
students with diabetes, partly because of the time required for a lawsuit to be resolved. 
However, litigation may always be considered, whether or not administrative complaints and 
other processes have been fully pursued (unless the IDEA exhaustion requirements 
discussed in the notes applies).  
 

Notes 
Section 504 and both Title II and Title III of the ADA do not require that mediation, 

grievance procedures, state hearing, or even a complaint be filed with OCR, before filing 
litigation. Where, however, remedies are also sought under the IDEA the due process 
hearing procedures must be exhausted before filing litigation. Gardner v. Uniondale Pub. Sch. 
Dist., 2008 U.S. Dist. Lexis 84496 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 21, 2008) (complaint dismissed for failure 
to exhaust where complaint raised claims under IDEA and 504 based on the same set of 
facts, even though student was served only under a 504 plan); Eads v. Unified Sch. Dist. No. 
289, 184 F. Supp. 2d 1122 (D. Kan. 2002) (claim brought by student with diabetes under 
IDEA and ADA rejected where IDEA procedures not followed). Moreover, before bringing 
claims under Section 504, ADA, or other statutes seeking relief which is also available under 
IDEA, the administrative procedures under IDEA must be exhausted to the same extent as 
would be required had the action been brought under IDEA. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(l). While it 
can be argued that denial of health care services such as insulin administration can impact a 
child’s educational performance and thus render a student eligible for services under IDEA 
(see Question 4.7), at least one court has held that exhaustion under IDEA was not required 
in a case involving a district’s failure to provide insulin administration at the school the child 
regularly attended and its demand that the student be transferred to a different school which 
employed a nurse. The court stated that: 

  

The claims herein arise from concerns about how the Child's insulin pump 
would be monitored, how insulin would be administered while the Child was at 
school and who would assist the Child counting carbohydrates. Plaintiff does 
not allege that the Child's disability, diabetes, impacts his educational process 
or performance and that he, thus, requires specialized educational services. In 
other words, Plaintiff's claims are not related to the way that Defendants 
provide an education to the Child. Rather, he complains of constitutional and 
statutory violations independent of the IDEA.  

 
R.K. v. Bd. of Educ. of Scott County, 755 F. Supp. 2d 800, 807 (E.D. Ky. 2010), rev’d and remanded 
on other grounds, 494 Fed. Appx. 589 (6th Cir. 2012); B. M. v. Bd. of Educ. of Scott County, 2008 
U.S. Dist. Lexis 66645, *16-17 (E. D. Ky. Aug. 29, 2008) (similar).  

The time within which a judicial claim must be filed can vary. This is because federal law 
frequently adopts the most analogous state statute of limitations and, therefore, the precise 
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limitation applicable may differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. See, e.g., Loch v. Bd. of Educ. of 
Edwardsville Community Sch. Dist., 573 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 1079 (S.D. Ill. 2008), aff’d., 327 Fed. 
Appx. 647 (7th Cir. 2009) (applying Illinois two year statute of limitations for personal injury 
actions to Section 504 claims). Some movement is being made to provide greater 
consistency. Federal law now provides a uniform limitations of four years for “civil actions 
arising under an Act of Congress enacted after” December 1, 1990, where a limitations is not 
otherwise prescribed. 28 U.S.C. § 1658. IDEA deviates from the uniform limitations by 
fixing a 90 day limitation for seeking judicial review of a hearing officer’s decision but, even 
then, allows states to provide a different explicit time limitations. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(B). It 
is very important to determine the time within which judicial review must be sought.  

 
14.15 Are individuals who take action to protect their rights 

protected against retaliation? 

Yes. Federal regulations prohibit schools from taking actions which intimidate, threaten, 
coerce, or discriminate against individuals who exercise their rights under anti-discrimination 
laws. 
 

Notes 
Section 504 regulations adopt and incorporate the procedural provisions of Title VI of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 34 C.F.R. § 104.61. Title VI regulations prohibit a recipient of 
Federal funds from retaliating against persons for the purpose of interfering with any right 
or privilege secured by the regulations. 34 C.F.R. § 100.7(e). The ADA contains similar 
retaliation prohibitions in both Title II (28 C.F.R. § 35.134) and Title III (28 C.F.R. § 
36.206). 

In analyzing a complaint of retaliation under Section 504 or Title II of the ADA, OCR 
first examines the evidence to determine whether there is a prima facie showing of retaliation. 
A prima facie case of retaliation is made by showing that:  

 

1) The complainant engaged in a protected activity (e.g., asserted or defended a right 
or privilege secured by Section 504 or the ADA);  
2) The school was aware of the protected activity; 
3.) The complainant was subjected to an adverse action contemporaneous with or 
subsequent to the adverse action; and, 
4.) There is sufficient connection or causal relationship between the protected act 
and the adverse action to give rise to an inference of retaliation. 

 

If these elements are established OCR asks school officials if there is a nonretaliatory reason 
for the adverse action. OCR then determines whether there is evidence that the stated 
reason is a pretext for retaliation. Courts hearing retaliation claims will generally take a 
similar analytical approach. 

Retaliation may take a variety of forms. It may include, for example, actions to 
intimidate, threaten, coerce, or otherwise retaliate against anyone who asserts a right 
protected by the civil rights laws OCR enforces, or who cooperates in an investigation. 
Where there is a non-pretextual, non-retaliatory reason for the school’s action, a claim of 
retaliation will be rejected. See, e.g., Grenada (MS) Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 06-12-1005, 61 
IDELR 54 (OCR 2012) (discipline imposed on student was not retaliation for parent’s 
advocacy because it was reasonable and consistent with that imposed on other students for 
behavior problems); Academy of Waterford (MI), Complaint No. 15-11-1181, 112 LRP 15747 
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(OCR 2011) (parent was banned from school grounds not because of her advocacy but 
because she yelled at school staff during an argument, and staff perceived her behavior as 
threatening); Casa Grande (AZ) Elementary Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 08-11-1082, 112 LRP 
15697 (OCR 2011) (parent was banned from school grounds because she had been abusive 
and disruptive); Le Center (MN) Pub. Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 05-06-1057, 107 LRP 2185 
(OCR 2006) (district was required to send letter discussing possibility of referral to 
authorities after excessive absences, and did so for non-disabled students as well); Hamilton 
Heights (IN) Sch. Corp., Complaint No. 05-02-1048, 37 IDELR 130 (OCR 2002) (rejecting 
retaliation claim based on termination of volunteer services where parent of child with 
diabetes made excessive visits to nurse’s clinic at school where her children were not 
enrolled). Similarly, where school officials apply a non-discriminatory practice retaliation is 
not established. See, e.g., Irvine (CA) Unified Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 09-94-1251, 23 IDELR 
1144 (OCR 1995) (rejecting retaliation complaint where child with diabetes was sent home 
with shingles under school nurse’s practice of keeping students out of school until lesions 
cleared up consistent with the way other students were treated in similar circumstances).  

Retaliation claims are sometimes made when school officials are alleged to have referred 
to a student to child welfare agencies or other government agencies. Such claims can succeed 
where there is evidence that school officials made the referral and either took actions that 
suggested a retaliatory motive, or knew or should have known that it was based on 
misconceptions about diabetes care. For example, in A.C. v. Shelby County Bd. of Educ., 711 F. 
3d 687 (6th Cir. 2013), the court reversed a grant of summary judgment on a claim that a 
principal made a referral to child protective services in retaliation for requests for diabetes 
care at school made by the child’s parents. The principal expressed concern that the child 
was being sent to school with sweets, that the parents were not properly monitoring the 
child’s diabetes, and that the parents wanted something bad to happen to the child so that 
they could file a lawsuit. However, the court held that:  

 

A reasonable jury could conclude that neither of the core allegations made in 
the [report to authorities] was ‘reasonably informed’ and that both comprised 
errors ‘too obvious to be unintentional.’ In particular, a jury could find that, 
based on her training, [the principal] knew or should have known that sending 
A.C. to school with sweets was not per se child abuse. And a jury could find 
that because she had easy access to [the school nurse], who knew that A.C. was 
constantly monitored via the state-of-the-art sensor-and-pump arrangement 
and also knew how to access stored records in the pump revealing whether the 
monitoring continued when A.C. was at home, [the principal] could have 
‘reasonably informed’ herself about whether there was any basis for alleging 
that A.C. was not monitored at home.  

 
Id. at 705. The Sixth Circuit also permitted a First Amendment retaliation claim by a parent 
of a child with diabetes where there was no evidence of legitimate concern for the child’s 
health and the principal had allegedly admitted that the call to the child welfare agency was in 
retaliation for the parent contacting OCR. Jenkins v. Rock Hill Local Sch. Dist., 513 F. 3d 580, 
588-89 (6th Cir. 2008).  

However, these claims will generally be rejected absent evidence that the district took 
the action, or evidence that the action was taken for a retaliatory purpose. The Jenkins court 
rejected a similar retaliation claim by the parent of another student, where evidence showed 
that school nurse had contacted the agency because the child lacked insulin or supplies on 
several occasions and the nurse was unable to contact the parent. Id.; see also Casa Grande 
(AZ) Elementary Sch. Dist., Complaint No. 08-11-1082, 112 LRP 15697 (OCR 2011) (no 
evidence school staff had made a truancy referral); Valle Lindo (CA) Elem. Sch. Dist., 
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Complaint No. 09-06-1079, 47 IDELR 170 (OCR 2006) (no evidence that district, as 
opposed to a third party, had contacted immigration officials after the filing of an OCR 
complaint, resulting in child’s mother being detained for immigration violations); Ardmore 
(OK) Pub. Schs., 46 IDELR 288 (OCR 2006) (complaint by father of student with diabetes 
that district reported him to child welfare agency in retaliation for prior OCR complaint 
rejected where school officials had no knowledge of prior complaint when report was filed).  

 


